IN THE SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC10-2433  
L.T. Case No. 1D09-6183

---

CITIZENS PROPERTY INSURANCE CORPORATION, A  
GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

*Petitioner,*

v.

SAN PERDIDO ASSOCIATION, INC., A FLORIDA  
NOT-FOR-PROFIT CORPORATION,

*Respondent.*

---

**INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

---

On Discretionary Review from a Decision of the  
First District Court of Appeal

**BARRY RICHARD**  
Florida Bar Number 0105599  
**GLENN BURHANS, JR.**  
Florida Bar Number 0605867  
**GREENBERG TRAUIG, P.A.**  
101 East College Avenue  
Tallahassee, FL 32301  
Telephone (850) 222-6891  
Facsimile (850) 681-0207  
richardb@gtlaw.com  
burhansg@gtlaw.com

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

Petitioner Citizens is a state governmental entity created by the Florida Legislature to fill a need for affordable property insurance coverage that was not being adequately met by private insurance companies. *See* § 627.351, Fla. Stat. The legislative purpose behind the creation of Citizens was explicitly set forth as follows:

It is the public purpose of this subsection to ensure the existence of an orderly market for property insurance for Floridians and Florida businesses. The Legislature finds that private insurers are unwilling or unable to provide affordable property insurance coverage in this state to the extent sought and needed. The absence of affordable property insurance threatens the public health, safety, and welfare and likewise threatens the economic health of the state. The state therefore has a compelling public interest and a public purpose to assist in assuring that property in the state is insured and that it is insured at affordable rates so as to facilitate the remediation, reconstruction, and replacement of damaged or destroyed property in order to reduce or avoid the negative effects otherwise resulting to the public health, safety, and welfare, to the economy of the state, and to the revenues of the state and local governments which are needed to provide for the public welfare. It is necessary, therefore, to provide affordable property insurance to applicants who are in good faith entitled to procure insurance through the voluntary market but are unable to do so. The Legislature intends by this subsection that affordable property insurance be provided and that it continue to be provided, as long as necessary, through Citizens Property Insurance Corporation, a government entity that is an integral part of the state, and that is not a private insurance company. To that end, Citizens Property Insurance Corporation shall strive to increase the availability of affordable property insurance in this state, while achieving efficiencies and economies, and while providing service to policyholders, applicants, and agents which

is no less than the quality generally provided in the voluntary market, for the achievement of the foregoing public purposes. Because it is essential for this government entity to have the maximum financial resources to pay claims following a catastrophic hurricane, it is the intent of the Legislature that Citizens Property Insurance Corporation continue to be an integral part of the state and that the income of the corporation be exempt from federal income taxation and that interest on the debt obligations issued by the corporation be exempt from federal income taxation.

§ 627.351(a)1, Fla. Stat.

In keeping with its expressed purpose of maximizing the financial resources available to Citizens to pay claims and of providing insurance coverage at affordable rates, the Legislature granted Citizens immunity from both liability and suit for all but a short list of causes of action:

There shall be no liability on the part of, and no cause of action of any nature shall arise against, any assessable insurer or its agents or employees, the corporation or its agents or employees, members of the board of governors or their respective designees at a board meeting, corporation committee members, or the office or its representatives, for any action taken by them in the performance of their duties or responsibilities under this subsection. Such immunity does not apply to:

- a. Any of the foregoing persons or entities for any willful tort;
- b. The corporation or its producing agents for breach of any contract or agreement pertaining to insurance coverage;
- c. The corporation with respect to issuance or payment of debt;

d. Any assessable insurer with respect to any action to enforce an assessable insurer's obligations to the corporation under this subsection; or

e. The corporation in any pending or future action for breach of contract or for benefits under a policy issued by the corporation; in any such action, the corporation shall be liable to the policyholders and beneficiaries for attorney's fees under s. 627.428.

Respondent San Perdido obtained an award against Citizens on a claim for insurance coverage under a windstorm policy. The circuit court entered judgment on the award plus additional damages in the amount of \$1,386,467.50, plus costs and attorneys fees in the amount of \$44,851.75. [App. 20-23] After the judgment was affirmed, San Perdido filed a first-party bad faith claim against Citizens seeking damages alleged to have been caused by the delay in payment of the award.<sup>1</sup> Citizens moved to dismiss on the ground of sovereign immunity pursuant to section 627.351(6)(s)1, Florida Statutes.

The circuit court denied Citizens' motion and Citizens sought a writ of prohibition or, alternatively, certiorari from the district court. The district court denied the petition, but certified the case to this Court as being in conflict with *Citizens Property Ins. Corp. v. Garfinkel*, 25 So. 3d 62 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> The Complaint sought "loss of use of its property, interest paid on loans to reconstruct its facilities, lost profits from rentals, excess costs caused by reconstruction delays, and costs associated with pursuing its claim with Citizens." [App. 1-6]

DCA 2009), [App. 3], and certified the following question as one of great public importance:

Whether, in light of the Supreme Court’s ruling in *Department of Education v. Roe*, 679 So. 2d 756 Fla. 1996), review of the denial of a motion to dismiss based on a claim of sovereign immunity should await the entry of a final judgment in the trial court?

[App. 3]

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The decision of the First District has the unprecedented effect of denying Citizens a material right with no meaningful opportunity for appellate review at any time. The decision would also enable trial courts to frustrate the legislative will with no appellate recourse. For this reason, and because the First District’s interpretation of applicable statutory provisions is inconsistent with a number of fundamental rules of statutory construction, this Court should adopt the position of the Fifth District.

The Florida Legislature has granted Citizens absolute immunity from suit as well as from liability. This Court has held that, in the absence of an exception, such language requires dismissal.

The exception in the immunity statute for commission of a “willful tort” should not be held to encompass bad faith actions. The Fifth District

held that the language should not be construed to encompass bad faith actions because there was no first-party cause of action for bad faith recognized at common law and the “willful tort” exception should properly be characterized as a statutory cause of action rather than a tort. In addition to the Fifth District’s reasoning, there is an important distinction between willful torts and bad faith actions. In the absence of an exception, a willful tort claimant would have no right to compensation of any kind. On the other hand, a claimant cannot receive bad faith damages unless he or she has already established a right to compensation for breach of the insurance contract. It cannot be assumed that the Legislature intended to permit such ancillary compensation in addition to recovery of the insurance proceeds. Such an assumption would be inconsistent with the legislative declaration that the purpose of the statute creating Citizens was to provide Floridians with property insurance at affordable rates and to maximize the availability of revenue for payment of claims.

The inclusion in a separate section of the statute setting forth Citizens’ general responsibilities of a directive that it ensure that its employees act in good faith should not be read to create an exception from immunity for bad faith actions. The Fifth District rejected such an argument based upon four separate rules of statutory construction. (A list of exceptions excludes

additional exceptions; waiver of immunity must be in clear and unequivocal language; legislative history of the act; no private right of action.) In addition, a specific provision setting forth exceptions to immunity should take precedence over a general provision setting forth the duties of Citizens.

In light of Citizens' immunity from suit, a denial of a motion to dismiss should be subject to interlocutory review by writ of certiorari or prohibition. This Court has long recognized that there is always an avenue for interlocutory review of an order denying a material right that cannot be adequately corrected on plenary appeal. The Fifth District's decision granting a writ of prohibition is consistent with this Court's decisions in *Dept. of Education v. Roe* and *Tucker v. Resha*. The *Roe* decision noted that the plaintiff was raising a defense under Florida's general sovereign immunity, which is a partial immunity from liability, not immunity from suit. The *Roe* Court distinguished the case from *Tucker*, which involved immunity from suit and in which the Court held that there was a right to interlocutory review.

## ARGUMENT

This Court has historically recognized that there is *always* a path to meaningful review of an order that would cause material injury that cannot be corrected on plenary appeal, whether such review be by interlocutory appeal or by writ. The First District decision below departed from that principle. The Fifth District decision in *Garfinkel* adhered to it. That is the crux of the conflict now before this Court. For the reasons discussed below, the Court should adopt the reasoning of the Fifth District because the foregoing principle is a bedrock of our concept of justice and because the failure to apply the principle in this case would enable a trial court to completely frustrate legislative policy without recourse.

### I. The Legislature Granted Citizens Absolute Immunity from Suit

The Florida Legislature has granted Citizens absolute immunity from both liability and suit. Subject to a short list of exceptions, section 627.351(6)(s)1, Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part:

There shall be no liability on the part of, **and no cause of action of any nature shall arise against**, . . . the corporation or its agents or employees . . . for any action taken by them in the performance of their duties or responsibilities under this subsection.

[emphasis added] The language is clear and unambiguous and, assuming that there is no applicable exception — which will be discussed below — the

provision stands as an absolute bar to any law suit against Citizens. Accordingly, this Court has held that the same language appearing elsewhere in the same statutory section, applicable to the Medical Malpractice Joint Underwriting Association, required dismissal of a suit filed against the JUA. *Florida Medical Malpractice Joint Underwriting Assoc. v. Indemnity Ins. Co. of North America*, 689 So. 2d 1040 (Fla. 1997).

San Perdido argued below that a bad faith claim falls within the exception in 627.351(6)(s)1a for commission of a “willful tort”. The Fifth District rejected the argument in *Garfinkel*, noting that third-party bad faith claims had long been recognized in Florida as common law torts, but that first-party bad faith claims had never been recognized as a common law tort. First-party bad faith claims were first recognized as a cause of action in Florida when they were created by statute in 1982. The court concluded that a first-party bad faith claim is more properly characterized as a “statutory cause of action” than a “tort” and held that it cannot be presumed that the Legislature intended to include bad faith actions within the meaning of the willful tort exception. *Garfinkel* at 25 So. 3d 68.

There is another important distinction between causes of action for willful tort and for bad faith that bears on determination of legislative intent. In the absence of the statutory exception from immunity for willful torts, a

claimant would have no recourse against Citizens for compensation of any kind for willful torts, regardless of the egregiousness of the company's conduct. The same would not be true of a bad faith claim if it were permitted against Citizens. As a prerequisite to recovering on a bad faith claim, a plaintiff must first have established a right to recover on the underlying breach of contract claim, which is one of the causes of action that is excepted from Citizens' immunity. *See Allstate Indemnity Co. v. Ruiz*, 899 So. 2d 1121 (Fla. 2005); *Blanchard v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 575 So. 2d 1289 (Fla. 1991). In this case, San Perdido obtained a judgment in the amount of \$1,431,319.20 on its coverage claim before filing its bad faith suit. [App. 20-23]

San Perdido's bad faith claim sought incidental damages over and above the coverage amount, attorneys' fees, costs, and prejudgment interest for which it had already received a judgment, such damages allegedly caused by Citizens' delay in payment under the policy. [App. 7-19] In light of the Legislature's expressed goal of maximizing available financial resources available to Citizens for payment of claims and of maintaining affordable rates for Citizens policyholders, it cannot reasonably be assumed that the Legislature intended to allow actions for bad faith against Citizens. The effect of such suits would be to *reduce* Citizens' financial resources *for*

*payment of policy claims* and to provide plaintiffs with additional damages at the expense of other Florida insurance policyholders.<sup>2</sup> The conclusion that such a result is contrary to legislative intent is buttressed by the fact that the Legislature’s commitment to avoiding reduction of financial resources for claims payment was sufficiently compelling for it to completely bar actions against Citizens for negligence claims.

In the District Court, San Perdido argued that a first-party bad faith suit such as the one in the case at bar was an exception to the immunity provision because of a directive in section 627.351(6)(s)2 that:

The corporation shall manage its claim employees, independent adjusters, and others who handle claims to ensure they carry out the corporation’s duty to policyholders to handle claims carefully, timely, diligently, and in good faith, balanced against the corporation’s duty to the state to manage its assets responsibly to minimize its assessment potential.

San Perdido argued that the requirement that Citizens ensure that its employees act “in good faith” created an exception from immunity for bad faith actions. The same argument was made by the plaintiff in *Garfinkel* and rejected by Fifth District based on several fundamental rules of statutory construction.

---

<sup>2</sup> Deficits in Citizens’ projected budget are made up by surcharges imposed on policyholders of Citizens and other insurance companies writing in Florida. § 627.351(6)(b)3i, Fla. Stat.

First, the court noted that the section immediately preceding the above-quoted directive expressly set forth five specific exceptions to immunity, none of which included bad faith claims. The court cited this Court's decision in *Dobbs v. Sea Isle Hotel*, 56 So. 2d 341 (Fla. 1952) for the well established rule that where a statute articulates exceptions, no other exceptions may be implied. *Garfinkel* at 25 So. 3d 65.

Second, the court noted that a waiver of immunity must be set forth in clear and unequivocal language, citing *Spangler v. Florida State Turnpike Auth.*, 106 So. 2d 421 (Fla. 1958). The general directive in subsection (s)2 directing Citizens, among other things, to manage its employees so as to ensure that they act in good faith is surely not a clear and unequivocal waiver of immunity, particularly when the provision appears immediately after the list of five exceptions in which a cause of action for bad faith is not included. *Id.*

Third, the Fifth District found that the legislative history of the immunity provision is inconsistent with the idea that bad faith claims were exempted from immunity. The court noted that during the 2007 legislative session, the Senate considered language that would have added bad faith claims to the list of exceptions, but ultimately rejected the language in favor of a bill that included the current language. *Garfinkel* at 25 So. 3d 66.

Fourth, the Fifth District noted that the provision directing Citizens to ensure that its employees act in good faith contains no language creating a private right of action for failure to abide by the directive. The court cited *Villazon v. Prudential Healthcare Plan, Inc.*, 843 So. 2d 842 (Fla. 2003) for the proposition that “absent an explicit expression of legislative intent to create a private right of action, none will be implied.” *Citizens Property Ins. Corp. v. Garfinkel*, 25 So. 3d at 68. Since the directive contained in subsection (s)2 cannot be held to have created a private cause of action, it cannot be read to create an exception from immunity.

There is an additional rule of construction not mentioned by the Fifth District that applies here. The immunity provision in section 627.351(6)(s)1 includes a provision devoted specifically to exceptions from immunity. The “good faith” provision in the subsection (s)2 is just a general statement of Citizens’ obligations in handling claims. It does not purport to deal with the grant of immunity or exceptions to the grant. Where provisions of a statute are in conflict, one specific as to the matter at issue and one more general, the more specific provision prevails. *State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Nichols*, 932 So. 2d 1067 (Fla. 2006).

## **II. Citizens is Entitled to an Appropriate Writ to Protect it from the Irreparable Loss of its Right to Immunity from Suit**

A common theme underlies most of the circumstances giving rise to an interlocutory appeal as set forth in Rule 9.130, Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. Six of the nine listed circumstances involve a material denial of a right that cannot be adequately remedied by plenary appeal.<sup>3</sup> This Court has recognized that there are other circumstances not covered by Rule 9.130 that place a defendant in the same jeopardy of losing a material right without meaningful appellate recourse. Under such circumstances, the Court has held that common law certiorari is available. *See, e.g., Belair v. Drew*, 770 So. 2d 1164 (Fla. 2000) (petitioner was entitled to certiorari review of order granting grandmother visitation rights with child); *Martin-Johnson, Inc. v. Savage*, 509 So. 2d 1097 (Fla. 1987) (orders requiring production of “cat out of the bag” information that “may reasonably cause material injury of an irreparable nature” would justify certiorari review).

---

<sup>3</sup> Non-final orders that determine jurisdiction of the person; right to immediate possession of property; right to immediate monetary relief or child custody in family law matters; entitlement to arbitration; entitlement to workers’ compensation immunity; and entitlement to absolute or qualified immunity in federal civil rights cases.

The case at bar cannot rationally be distinguished from the class of cases represented by *Belair* and *Martin-Johnson*. The legislative grant of immunity from suit is an important factor in enabling Citizens to fulfill its core responsibility of maximizing available revenue to pay claims and providing insurance to Floridians at affordable rates. As with the grandparent visitation in *Belair* and the cat-out-of-the-bag discovery discussed in *Martin-Johnson*, the order below is beyond correction on plenary appeal. Once Citizens has been forced to fully litigate a case and defend a trial, the purpose of immunity from suit has been irretrievably lost. In his dissenting opinion in the district court below, Judge Wetherell recognized that “the trial court’s erroneous order denying Citizens immunity from Respondent’s suit will cause material injury to Citizens that cannot be fully remedied upon plenary appeal.” *Citizens Property Ins. Corp. v. San Perdido* at 46 So. 3d 1053.

The majority in the district court below did not discuss the irreparable effect of the trial court order or the application of this Court’s holdings in cases such as *Belair* and *Martin-Johnson*. Instead, the majority concluded that its decision was controlled by this Court’s holding in *Dept. of Education v. Roe*, 679 So. 2d 756 (Fla. 1996). In *Roe*, the trial court denied a motion to dismiss the defendant Florida Department of Education based upon the

state's sovereign immunity. The Court held that an agency subject to Florida's partial waiver of sovereign immunity under section 768.28, Florida Statutes, was not entitled to a writ of certiorari to review a trial court order denying a motion to dismiss based upon sovereign immunity.

In reaching its decision in *Roe*, this Court distinguished the case from its earlier decision in *Tucker v. Resha*, 648 So. 2d 1187 (Fla. 1995). Responding to a certified question, the *Tucker* Court had held that a government official asserting qualified immunity should be afforded interlocutory review of an order denying a motion to dismiss. The Court's reasoning in *Tucker* has direct application to the case at bar:

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