OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC10-2433 First District Court of Appeals Case No. ID09-6183

CITIZENS PROPERTY INSURANCE CORPORATION,

Petitioner,

v.

SAN PERDIDO ASSOCIATION, INC.,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Discretionary Review of Conflict Certified by the First District Court of Appeals

RICHARD M. BECKISH, JR. Florida Bar No.: 738395 LIBERIS LAW FIRM, P.A. 212 West Intendencia Street Pensacola, Florida 32502 Telephone 850.438.9647 Facsimile 850.433.5409 rbeckish@liberislaw.com Attorneys for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Citizens spends over half of its brief arguing the substantive issue of whether it is subject to liability for bad faith. This issue is not properly before this Court. In its opinion, the court below never reached Citizens' substantive claims, rather, it certified conflict with the Fifth District Court of Appeals opinions in, *Citizens Prop. Ins. Co. v. Garfinkle*, 25 So. 3d 62 (Fla. 5th DCA 2009), and *Citizens Prop. Ins. Co. v. La Mer Condominium Ass'n.*, 37 So. 3d 988 (Fla. 5th DCA 2010), on the narrow procedural grounds that, based upon this Court's holding in *Department of Education v. Roe*, 679 So. 2d 756 (Fla. 1996), interlocutory review is not available for denial of a motion to dismiss based upon a claim of sovereign immunity.

Generally, non-final orders are not appealable subject to the exceptions found in Rule 9.130 (a)(3) F.R.A.P. The instant case does not fit any of those exceptions. Nevertheless, Citizens argues that the instant case falls within a further

exception to the general rule of non-appealability which this Court carved out in *Tucker v. Resha*, 648 So.2d 1187 (Fla. 1994). However, *Tucker* is inapplicable to the instant case. *Tucker* involved denial of a motion for summary judgment based upon a qualified immunity defense in a federal section 1983 claim tried in state court. *Id.* This Court held that certiorari should have been granted because 1) parties should be granted the same rights when litigating a federal cause of action in state court as they would enjoy in federal court, and 2) that the right of federal qualified immunity as applied to individual government officials would be lost if interlocutory review were not granted. *Tucker v. Resha*, 648 So.2d at 1189.

The concerns present in *Tucker* do not exist in the instant case. Here you have a state agency (not an individual) asserting a defense of sovereign (not qualified) immunity to a state law claim of bad faith. The instant case is controlled by this Court's holding in *Department of Education v. Roe*, 679 So. 2d 756 (Fla. 1996), wherein this Court declined to extend *Tucker* to cases involving the claim of an entire entity of the government to immunity from claims based upon state law. *Dep't. of Education v. Roe*, 679 So. 2d 756, 758-759 (Fla. 1996). In its opinion, this Court expressed its concern that, interlocutory appeals such the one posited by Citizens in the instant case tend to be fact specific, thus wasting judicial resources in fruitless appeals and, further, should such appeals be allowed, the district courts appeals would soon be flooded with appeals by state agencies. *Id.* Further, the

Court held that government entities like Citizens suffered no irreparable harm by being required to raise its immunity defense on plenary appeal. *Dep't. of Education v. Roe*, 679 So. 2d 756, 759 (Fla. 1996).

Citizens has been granted limited statutory immunity in its enabling statute, §627.351 Florida Statutes. However, the Legislature saw fit to carve out a series of exceptions to Citizens immunity. §627.351(6)(s)(1)(a)-(e). The ultimate substantive issue in the instant case is simply: Is bad faith as defined in §624.155 a "willful tort"? If so, it falls within the "willful tort" exception to Citizens' immunity outlined in §627.351(6)(s)(1)(a) and Citizens' motion to dismiss was properly denied by the trial court, and the case should be remanded for litigation to proceed.

In its brief, Citizens has posited a variety of arguments why bad faith either is not a willful tort or, alternately, that the Legislature "intended" to exempt Citizens from bad faith liability, all of which are discussed in depth below. In the final analysis, San Perdido would submit that if the Court decides to take cognizance of this issue, any analysis of whether Citizens is immune from bad faith must begin with one crucial question: What is Citizens asking for in this appeal, and is the remedy that Citizens seeks congruent with the Legislature's purpose for creating Citizens in the first place? No matter how Citizens tries to

spin this issue, it is asking this Court for the ability to deny claims in bad faith with impunity, which is totally contrary to the Legislature's stated purpose in creating it.

ARGUMENT

I. CITIZENS' HAS ATTEMPTED TO INSERT SUBSTANTIVE ISSUES INTO THIS APPEAL THAT ARE NOT PROPERLY BEFORE THE COURT.

Citizens has attempted to improperly insert the substantive issues of whether it is entitled to sovereign immunity and whether bad faith falls in the willful tort exception to its statutory immunity into this appeal when those claims are clearly not properly before the Court. By arguing these issues, Citizens seeks in a left handed way to obtain this Court's stamp of approval on its substantive claim that it is immune to bad faith, when the only issue that is properly before the Court is a narrow procedural matter. The First District Court of Appeals holding (reproduced above) is both succinct and narrowly focused. It did not reach the underlying issue of whether Citizens is entitled to full sovereign immunity or whether bad faith is a "willful tort" falling within the exception contained in Citizens' enabling statute. Rather, the court below held that an interlocutory appeal based upon a claim of sovereign immunity cannot be sustained in light of this Court's holding in Department of Education v. Roe, 679 So. 2d 756 (Fla. 1996). Further, while the First DCA certified conflict with the Fifth DCA cases, Citizens Prop. Ins. Co. v. Garfinkle, 25 So. 3d 62 (Fla. 5th DCA 2009), and Citizens Prop. Ins. Co. v. La Mer

Condominium Ass'n., 37 So. 3d 988 (Fla. 5th DCA 2010), it was explicit concerning the grounds of conflict which it certified, namely, not that Citizens is or is not immune to bad faith claims, rather, that the Fifth DCA had no business reviewing those claims on interlocutory appeal in the first place.

"Contrary to the supreme court's pronouncements in *Roe*, the fifth district has issued writs of prohibition where Citizens claimed sovereign immunity in response to a section 624.155 lawsuit for bad faith insurance practices."

Citizens Prop. Ins. Corp. v San Perdido Ass'n., 46 So. 3d at 1052.

Therefore, all of Citizens' arguments concerning the underlying merits of its claim of sovereign immunity and immunity to bad faith should be struck and not considered by this Court.

II. DENIAL OF A CITIZENS' MOTION TO DISMISS BASED UPON ITS CLAIM OF SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY IS NOT SUBJECT TO INTERLOCUTORY REVIEW.

The question before the Court is whether the district courts of appeal had jurisdiction, either by certiorari or through writ of prohibition, to review Citizens' appeal in the first place. Generally, for a non-final order of a circuit court to be reviewable by this Court it must fit within one of the exceptions enumerated in Rule 9.130 (a)(3) F.R.A.P. Citizens' appeal to this Court is ultimately grounded upon its assertion of sovereign immunity, and that the trial court lacks subject matter jurisdiction to hear the case and should therefore have granted its motion to dismiss. Since these grounds do not fit within any of the classes of cases

enumerated in Rule 9.130 it would seem to be a rather straightforward proposition that the Court does in fact lack jurisdiction to hear Citizens' appeal, and the case should be remanded to continue litigation.

However, this Court carved out an exception to Rule 9.130 in *Tucker v*. Resha, 648 So.2d 1187 (Fla. 1994). Tucker involved denial of a motion for summary judgment based upon a qualified immunity defense in a federal section 1983 claim tried in state court. *Id.* Tucker filed a petition for writ of certiorari based upon the federal appellate mechanism for interlocutory review of orders denying summary judgment based upon qualified immunity. Id. at 1188. The District Court held that there is no analogous procedure under Florida law for review of a non-final order denying summary judgment. Id. While the Supreme Court agreed with the District Court's reasoning, it reversed, based upon application of federal precedents specific to qualified immunity and held that "... an order denying summary judgment based upon a claim of qualified immunity is subject to interlocutory review to the extent that the order turns on an issue of law." Tucker v. Resha, 648 So.2d 1187, 1190 (Fla. 1994).

Tucker is clearly inapplicable to the instant case. In Tucker the Court was concerned with applying federal principles of qualified immunity to a federal cause of action pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and with the effect that breach of that

immunity might have on the ability of *individual office holders* to perform their duties.

"Under the qualified immunity doctrine, "government officials performing discretionary functions generally are shielded from liability for civil damages insofar as their conduct does not violate clearly established statutory or constitutional rights of which a reasonable person would have known." *Harlow*, 457 U.S. at 818. "The central purpose of affording public officials qualified immunity from suit is to protect them 'from undue interference with their duties and from potentially disabling threats of liability." *Elder v. Holloway*, 114 S. Ct. 1019, 1022, 127 L. Ed. 2d 344 (1994) (quoting *Harlow*, 457 U.S.

Consistent with this purpose, the qualified immunity of **public officials** involves "*immunity from suit* rather than a mere defense to liability." *Mitchell v. Forsyth*, 472 U.S. 511, 526, 105 S. Ct. 2806, 86 L. Ed. 2d 411 (1985). The entitlement "is effectively lost if a case is erroneously permitted to go to trial." *Id.* Furthermore, an order denying qualified immunity "is effectively unreviewable on appeal from a final judgment," *id.* at 527, as the public official cannot be "re-immunized" if erroneously required to stand trial or face the other burdens of litigation."

Tucker v. Resha, 648 So.2d at 1189 (emphasis added).

In *Department of Education v. Roe*, 679 So. 2d 756 (Fla. 1996), this Court declined to extend *Tucker* to cases involving the claim of an *entire entity of the government* to immunity from claims based upon *state* law, which is the situation in the instant case. *Roe* involved a claim that an elementary school teacher had molested the plaintiff. Defendant, Department of Education filed a motion to dismiss based upon the defense of sovereign immunity, which was denied by the trial court. *Dep't. of Education v. Roe*, 679 So. 2d 756, 757 (Fla. 1996). The DOE

filed for certiorari, arguing that this Court had jurisdiction to review the denial of its motion to dismiss based upon extension of the *Tucker* holding to state court claims of sovereign immunity. *Id.* This Court held:

"On the other hand, it cannot be said that suits against governmental entities grounded upon the statutory waiver of sovereign immunity constitute a small class of cases. To the contrary, permitting interlocutory appeals in such cases would add substantially to the caseloads of the district courts of appeal. Moreover, in light of the statutory waiver, it can no longer be said that the issue of sovereign immunity is always independent of the cause itself. Oftentimes, the applicability of the sovereign immunity waiver is inextricably tied to the underlying facts, requiring a trial on the merits. Thus, many interlocutory decisions would be inconclusive and in our view a waste of judicial resources. None of these concerns were evident in *Tucker*. Tucker is further distinguishable from cases involving sovereign immunity because qualified immunity is rooted in the need to protect public officials from undue interference, whereas sovereign immunity is not. Finally, in *Tucker* we had an interest in affording federal causes of action brought in state court the same treatment they would receive if brought in federal court. In contrast, this case involves no similar consideration; we are dealing here with a state law defense to an ordinary state law cause of action."

Dep't. of Education v. Roe, 679 So. 2d 756, 758-759 (Fla. 1996).

This Court has drawn a clear distinction in *Roe* which is directly applicable to the instant case. The instant case does not involve individual public officials being sued under a federal cause of action in state court, rather, here you have a "government entity that is an integral part of the state", §627.351(a)(1) Fla. Stat., claiming sovereign immunity to a state law cause of action brought pursuant to Florida's Bad Faith Statute.

The very concerns which this Court voiced in *Roe* are all present in the instant case. In its brief, Citizens admits that "The *Roe* court's concern over the volume of interlocutory cases that would burden the district courts if interlocutory review were permitted in sovereign immunity cases would apply to Citizens and similar entities." (Citizens' Brief at p. 17). The central issue in this case is whether Citizens' behavior in denying and delaying payment of San Perdido's claims constitutes a "willful tort" that falls within the exception to its statutory immunity. This issue is intimately intertwined with the facts of the case, and if interlocutory appeal is allowed, district courts will be tasked with interpreting all manner of fact situations to determine if the particular circumstances of each case fit one of the statutory exceptions to Citizens' immunity, each such case having little or no precedential value.

Citizens has attempted to justify its position by claiming that denial of its interlocutory appeal will cause it "irreparable harm", and the "irreparable loss of its right to sovereign immunity". Citizens cites two cases in support its position.

Belaire v. Drew, 770 So. 2d 1164 (Fla. 2000), and Martin-Johnson v. Savage, 509 So. 2d 1097 (Fla. 1987). Drew involved denial of a petition for certiorari when a trial court ordered temporary visitation, pending a later hearing, by the paternal grandparents of a child over the custodial mother's objection that the visitation violated her constitutional right to privacy. Drew, 770 So. 2d at 1166-1167. This

Court held that the writ should have been granted because the trial court's order was a facial, ongoing violation of the mother's privacy rights which could not be undone even if she prevailed at the later hearing. *Id.* At 1167. This Court has clearly held that no such irreparable damage is caused by forcing a government agency to follow through with litigation to trial. In fact, it is strange that Citizens would cite *Martin-Johnson*, because in that case, not only did this Court hold that it is not proper for appellate courts to review a motion to dismiss or strike a claim for punitive damages, it made it clear that merely forcing a party to continue with litigation does not constitute "irreparable harm".

"Litigation of a non-issue will always be inconvenient and entail considerable expense of time and money for all parties in the case. The authorities are clear that this type of harm is not sufficient to permit certiorari review. *See Wright v. Sterling Drugs, Inc.*, 287 So.2d 376 (Fla. 2d DCA 1973), *cert. denied*, 296 So.2d 51 (1974). Moreover, if we permitted review at this stage, appellate courts would be inundated by petitions to review orders denying motions to dismiss such claims, and trial court proceedings would be unduly interrupted. Even when the order departs from the essential requirements of the law, there are strong reasons militating against certiorari review. For example, the party injured by the erroneous interlocutory order may eventually win the case, mooting the issue, or the order may appear less erroneous or less harmful in light of the development of the case after the order. Haddad, *The Common Law Writ of Certiorari in Florida*, 29 U. Fla. L. Rev. 207, 227-28 (1977)."

Martin-Johnson v. Savage, 509 So. 2d 1097, 1100 (Fla. 1987).

In regard to "losing its immunity", not only has Citizens failed to cite exactly *how* it would suffer this "irreparable loss" if forced to wait for plenary appeal, this Court specifically rejected that argument in *Roe*.

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